



BULLETIN OF GEOGRAPHY, SOCIO-ECONOMIC SERIES

journal homepages: https://content.sciendo.com/view/journals/bog/bog-overview.xml http://apcz.umk.pl/czasopisma/index.php/BGSS/index

The application of new technologies in promoting a healthy lifestyle: selected examples

Kinga Kimic^{1, CDMR}, Gabriela Maksymiuk^{2, DM}, Marzena Suchocka^{3, DR}

Warsaw University of Life Sciences – SGGW, Faculty of Horticulture, Biotechnology and Landscape Architecture, Department of Landscape Architecture, Nowoursynowska 166, 02-787 Warsaw, Poland; ¹phone: +48 22 59 322 08, e-mail: kinga_kimic@sggw.pl (corresponding author); ²phone: +48 22 59 32 187, e-mail: gabriela_maksymiuk@sggw.pl; ³phone: +48 506 650 607, e-mail: marze-na.suchocka@interia.pl

How to cite:

Kimic, K. Maksymiuk, G. and Suchocka M. (2019). The application of new technologies in promoting a healthy lifestyle: selected examples. *Bulletin of Geography. Socio-economic Series*, 43(43), 121-130. DOI: http://doi.org/10.2478/bog-2019-0008

Abstract. Modern society is fascinated by Information and Communication Technologies (ICTs), physical laziness, isolation from nature, and a preference for staying indoors. Despite the general acceptance and understanding of the health benefits of recreation in the open air, a change is being seen in the recreational patterns of urban dwellers, as they spend less time outdoors. In order to counteract such behaviours, we can try to apply ICTs to enhance time spent outdoors. The performed study aimed to find uses of ICT solutions in designing public spaces in order to enhance and promote a healthy lifestyle. The selected examples show possible applications of ICT in promoting active recreation, e.g. mobile applications for sport activities, urban games in line with the idea of the Playable City, and urban furniture and outdoor hotspots enabling access to the Internet. The research findings proved that digitisation is not only a threat to a healthy lifestyle, but that it can also create opportunities to improve the quality of life.

 $\ensuremath{\texttt{©}}$ 2019 Nicolaus Copernicus University. All rights reserved.

Article details:

Received: 12 October 2018 Revised: 05 December 2018 Accepted: 20 February 2019

Key words: public space, green spaces, recreation, human well-being,

ICT

Contents:

1.	. Introduction	122
	1.1. Contemporary society and ICT	122
	1.2. Escalating non-healthy behaviours	
	Research materials and methods	
3.	. Research results	124
	3.1. Intelligent urban furniture	124
	3.2. Creation of space identity through play	
	3.3. Mobile apps enhancing physical activities	
4.	. Conclusions	

Acknowledgements	127
References	127

1. Introduction

The increasing popularity of mobile devices, which is accompanied by constantly decreasing data transfer costs, mean that a significant proportion of society is currently remaining permanently on-line. Typically, people used the Internet indoors, but being constantly on-line requires technology to be transferred outdoors (e.g. to public spaces). Even according to research by Forlano (2008) conducted a decade ago, more than 25% of hotspot users in parks admitted that they had not visited these places before Wi-Fi signal transmitters were installed, and 70% confirmed that they visited green spaces more often if the Internet was available. Moreover, 75% of respondents declared that they chose recreational venues according to the possibility to use free Wi-Fi. However, the digitisation of society carries numerous threats, such as the weakening of social ties, the deterioration of health and the feeling that we are missing out on something (Prensky, 2001). Contemporary trends in landscape architecture and the design of public spaces that meet user expectations can have a significant impact in preventing such undesirable phenomena by implementing design solutions to encourage urban dwellers to transfer their activities to the open air.

1.1. Contemporary society and ICT

Social development depends on many factors, which are conditioned on the one hand by progress resulting from technological development, and on the other hand by the growing needs and expectations of users in regards to its application in everyday life. This broadly fits well with the megatrends of the last several decades, including, as we have mentioned, the move away from an industrial society towards an information society (Naisbitt, 1992; Stacewicz, 1998). The modern approach including the wider use of new technologies describes the

changes in this area, pointing to the more intense return of societies towards twenty-four-hour access to goods, services and consumption. The massive use of information and communication technologies (ICTs) in consumption is caused by ever-wider access to information in networks, including the expansion of mobile services (Tinnilä, 2012). The 2015 McKinsey report predicts progress and further development of technologies including the gathering of more and more data, deepening consumerism and furthering urbanisation (Dobbs, Manyika, Woetzel, 2015). Nowadays, the society that is developing is known as the "information society" (IS), for which knowledge and information are the basis of existence (Krzysztofek, Szczepański, 2005), and in which activities are enhanced by the provision of ICTs (Lubacz, Galar, 1999). At the same time, the formation and development of the IS should be seen and considered in terms of at least several aspects, including technology, economics, the social dimension, education and others (Naisbit, 1982; Lubański, 2004).

Within the information society, one can distinguish a generation of "digital natives", i.e. people born in the digital era, for whom new media are the basic environment of existence (in other words, they are addicted to new media). Thanks to innovative gadgets, they have direct access to data and searched content (Prensky, 2001), and they often use multiple multimedia devices at the same time, or one multifunctional device for several activities enabling access to media (Mysior, 2014). This social group not only requires information that is freely accessible and has multithreaded use, but also rapid processing of it (short-term learning, experimenting, multitasking while waiting for immediate results and satisfaction with the action). The Internet is a natural environment for this generation, a system for communicating with others that enables identity building, playing, etc. The Internet can also become an addictive factor, because without constant access to the network, representatives of this group may feel lost or have a sense of fear that they are missing out on something (the process is called FOMO – Fear of Missing Out) (Przybylski et al., 2013).

Continuous access to information and on-line services is, however, nowadays the domain of an ever-wider cross-section of society - it is starting to affect entire generations of people affected by internetisation. It causes the blurring of the boundaries between private and professional life, but also between private and public, which might be illustrated by the increased interest and development of social networking sites, which in turn are also changing local authorities' behaviour towards communication with the public via the Internet. Furthermore, elderly users become full-fledged participants in the cyber world as they increasingly use and are fascinated by ICTs. As representatives of the generation of "digital immigrants", they are partially compared to "digital natives" regardless of the degree of their adaptation to new technologies, new lifestyles or conflicts between generations (Prensky 2001).

1.2. Escalating non-healthy behaviours

Contemporary social behaviours related to life and work while using the Internet have permanently specific effects. Nowadays, young people cannot imagine life without constant access to the network. It is obvious to them that they can connect to the Internet at any time. The time spent in front of mobile device screens is managed mainly at the expense of outdoor activities. Creating convenient conditions for using the network in open spaces may thus enable these two activities to be reconciled. The deteriorating condition of Poles is largely due to the increased amount of time spent in a sitting position (Suchocka et al., 2017b).

At the same time, it is observed that the time spent indoors have increased. The indoor spaces are perceived as safe, free of external and unnecessary stimuli, and thus comfortable. Internet users spend an average of 15 hours and 40 minutes online per week. Since 2009, the average declared network-use time has remained at a similar level, and the number of hours spent online is also related to age. People below 34 years old spend almost twice as much time on the Internet (approximately 23 hours) than

older users (approximately 6–10 hours on average) (World Internet Project 2013, 2013).

Extending the time spent indoors limits the time spent outdoors, and results in isolation from nature. Universal access to the Internet, and the constant need to use it, therefore have a direct impact on changing preferences related to the use of public spaces by residents, especially those living in cities. Previously popular forms of recreation (such as resting on a bench, walking, sports) are not enough anymore. It is becoming common to spend time in environments where constant access to information is ensured through the use of wireless Internet access. A change in recreational behaviour means to a large extent the minimisation of physical activities ("physical laziness") (Pańczyk, 2012). The "times of fear of nature" have emerged - this term aptly characterises the approach of modern humans to nature (Louv, 2008). The undesirable effect is the deterioration of physical and mental health of increasingly wider community groups.

Searching for model solutions that aim to improve human health and quality of life in cities is a process that has been going on for many decades. The rainbow model of health determinants (Dahlgren, Whitehead, 1991) indicates that health is the result of a series of related causes. An important role is played by social factors (lifestyle and social attitudes) that result from economic, cultural and environmental conditions. At the same time, the level of public health remains in direct relation to environmental sustainability (Graham, White, 2016). In this context, it is desirable to look for methods and solutions for activating society and for encouraging people to go outdoors.

At the same time, creating ICT facilities such as hotspots in public spaces could be a response to changing social needs. It also becomes a way to attract new users to such places, which are often forgotten and programmatically unattractive. Expanding the offer addressed to Internet users makes these places more accessible, more often visited and liked, and their rank and importance in the city's recreational structure increases (Kimic et al., 2016).

Staying outdoors in a natural environment has a beneficial effect on human health. Nature improves mental performance, results in faster problem solving and constructive decision making, stimulates creativity and ingenuity, and increases motivation to act (Louv, 2008). Thus, for the aforementioned reasons, it is worth considering what design tools can be used to encourage users to spend more time in natural environments.

2. Research materials and methods

In the context of the aforementioned characteristics of contemporary urban residents' changing behaviour and preferences, the paper presents a selection of solutions promoting a healthy lifestyle within the realm of omnipresent ICTs. For this purpose, a content analysis has been made of varied sources, including a review of literature, and public space design projects and implemented solutions.

3. Research results

The innovative application of ICTs in public spaces, especially in green areas, can be used to make people more physically active and to implement various new forms of recreation. A review of publications and Internet sources related to the use of ICTs shows that they are applied in various forms, and those that have a great potential are: intelligent urban furniture with hotspots, the idea of enhancing space through play (or adding a new value to neglected spaces through play), as well as mobile applications aimed at promoting physical activities, including sports.

3.1. Intelligent urban furniture

Open access points (hotspots), enabling a connection to the Internet via a wireless network, are an opportunity to link urban dwellers' need for modern technologies to the use of public spaces. Currently, hotspots are very common in utility buildings, e.g. office buildings, universities and typical commercial facilities, such as shopping malls and restaurants, but even in public transport. They are also being

introduced more and more often in outdoor public spaces including green areas (squares, parks, public promenades, boulevards, etc.) (Suchocka et al., 2017a). They can take various forms, from a small, individual element (a single piece of furniture) to more complex systems of various elements grouped so as to create a zone or set of zones. Contemporary multifunctional urban furniture, which is characterised by innovative, often artistic design, gives the opportunity to use ICT to expand its standard functions as a hotspot - by providing access to information through the Internet. They become excellent tools for expanding what public spaces and green areas have to offer, and at the same time they enhance the attractiveness of public spaces and react to the ever-new expectations of a complex urban community (Kimic, 2015b).

The use of ICT in urban furniture enables users to control the spirit or mood of a place, e.g. by changing light, water, sound and images. Specially designed mobile apps combine with urban furniture to create a new layer of perception for users, who gain the opportunity to influence the space. This kind of interaction between object and user is a form of non-verbal communication (Kimic 2015a). Such interaction allows residents to study their city or place and make them re-identify the space (Bochińska, 2007). Technological advances therefore make it possible to use urban furniture as a carrier of information access by opening users up to cyber space in almost any place and all the time.

The digital revolution allows urban furniture to expand its standard functions. The simplest piece of public furniture, and at the same time a widely used one, is a bench, which is a place of rest, but also enables social meetings and interactions. Changing it into a hotspot Internet access point and adding a socket for charging smartphones will not only increase the exploitation of its basic functions, but will also encourage users to use this item more often than before, and lure new users, too. Seating functions – as in the case of the *BlocParc* project (a system of rectangular benches made of wood with metal fittings that can be set in any place, and are used as a hotspot while also serving as a seat, table, obstacle for skaters, and plant pot, among other things) (BlocParc, 2017) - extend to providing direct access to social networks, information about public transport, but also emergency services, and are thus a significant facility and improvement for users. The hotspot zones arranged as city stations designed as a system of seats and tables adapted to the use of mobile devices become a place not only for meetings and rest in the fresh air, but also for work.

An extensive hotspot station, as in the case of the Digital Harbour project (100% connected) - a station realised according to a design by Mathieu Lehanneur (JCDecaux's Intelligent Street Furniture, 2017) – shows the use of comprehensive solutions in the arrangement of places with access to wireless Internet in public spaces and green areas. Such a multi-functional facility not only has an attractive form (here a contemporary roof-top with a roof garden equipped with movable, rotating seats), but also gives the possibility of recharging mobile devices, or provides direct access to selected "urban applications" through a touch screen. Even a simple bus shelter can be easily adapted to new functions - free Wi-Fi will not only allow access to information on public transport or commercial functions (e.g. by enabling online shopping), but will encourage residents to use public transport instead of driving. Such changes in habits can positively affect the physical activities of urban dwellers. In counteracting the sedentary lifestyle, other multifunctional city furniture that increases pedestrian activity can also be used. The tranSIT project is one such solution (TRANSIT walking waypoints..., 2015). This is a hybrid pedestrian information system showing the direction, distance and time of access to public transport combined with lighting components, smartphone recharging slots and free access to the Internet, and a system of elevation-mounted single seats for older people enabling them to rest while out for a walk.

It is highly desirable to use ICT to support the mobility of people with physical disabilities. A *Responsive Street Furniture* project is a good example (Responsive Street Furniture... 2017). This uses the correlation of mobile devices (e.g. smartphones, iPads) with existing elements of urban equipment. Receiving help is possible for disabled users thanks to a free application that allows street lamps to be brightened when approached by a visually impaired person, or that activates a sound information system but also extends the time that green lights stay on while crossing a street, or that indicates plac-

es to rest. Responsive furniture is a way to encourage physical activity among people at risk of social exclusion, who are reluctant to use public spaces (Kimic, 2017).

3.2. Creation of space identity through play

One contemporary trend in social activation concerns the use of urban spaces for activities encouraging participation in games among all age groups (Raessens, 2006). The use of existing infrastructure allows us to perceive the city as a great game, whose attractiveness depends only on the creativity of the organisers and participants (Bielecki, 2008).

The contemporary approach to increasing the activity of the information society in public spaces and green areas is directly connected with investments serving the creation of smart cities. The trend for using ICTs to physically activate urban dwellers by encouraging them to take part in urban games is becoming widespread (Borden, 2007). One of the currently growing needs in this area is the creation of urban spaces, which must be attractive to everyone, and thus multifunctional and easy to alter. The Playable City idea is a form of action serving the innovative perception and use of the potential of modern cities to activate their residents (What is a Playable City?, 2016). It gives the opportunity to conduct social dialogue through the implementation of shared experiences using different forms of play (de Lange, 2015). It is an initiative that brings together various types of activities - with many initiatives taking place in the public spaces of cities, including green areas - artistic projects, happenings, lectures and others. It serves as a medium, which gives a "human face to smart cities" by using new technologies for what can broadly be termed their "socialisation". It transforms the existing infrastructure into places that evoke unexpected social reactions.

With the help of new media, one can use those places to participate in urban games, to create games and to edit their scenarios at any given moment. One example is the *Hello Lamp Post* project – an urban gaming platform implemented in Bristol in 2013, which is an interactive system for discovering the city through conversation with urban furniture (Hello Lamp Post 2013). Dialogue was possible

with over 440 items of infrastructure (streetlights, electric boxes, mailboxes, traffic cones, booths). The interaction consisted in establishing a dialogue between the furniture and people in the vicinity and was conducted using a telephone application that included answers to the urban questions asked by the infrastructure element. This game combined two functions: fun (activity in the urban space associated with the search for more furniture participating in the action) and finding out (noticing the specificity of the "urban code" recorded in urban furniture and learning its "secrets"). Another example from this series is the Shadowing project, originally made in the same city, using the light of lanterns and cameras installed in them, supported by a program that allows one to record the moving shadow of a walking person, and then display it before another person moving in the same light (Shadowing, 2014). The aim was to activate and encourage passers-by to play alone and with others, and to draw attention to the fact that the city is a space shared with others. At the same time, this form of play has influenced the revival of spaces (with the help of light and thanks to the presence of people) that had previously been unfriendly and forgotten places.

3.3. Mobile apps enhancing physical activities

One of the less complicated, widely available and fastest growing forms of using ICT to enhance physical activities is mobile apps that can be used on smartphones, palmtops or tablets. Sports applications are one of the most popular, and they are extremely convenient, fast and cheap to use (as most of them are free, or the user decides to pay a fee for an extended version). They enhance many types of physical activities such as running, cycling, swimming, weight training, aerobics and others, and most of them are carried out outdoors, in public spaces, including green areas. Most applications not only allow users to track their own sports activities, which itself mobilises users to increase individual achievements, but they also allow information and sports results to be shared with other users. Thus, such apps facilitate establishing social relationships with a group of people with similar interests. The connection with the appropriate support in terms of diet and, for example, counting calories, allows

for a more comprehensive and effective use of this form of activation associated with improving health.

One of the most popular examples of a sport-promoting app is Endomondo. This application supports a lot of activities, e.g. running, cycling, canoeing, etc. The app records the route taken by a user while practising a sport and registers time spent on an activity, user's speed, distance covered, or even heartbeats and calories burned. The ability to view other users' results and share one's own results is another form of information exchange and motivation (Endomondo, 2017). Another example is Runtastic - an application designed mainly for runners, canoeists and cyclists, which allows users to effectively recreate the exercise route on a map using 3D mode (Nowak, 2012; Runtastic, Running Bieganie i Fitness, 2017), as well as establish its new course. Many applications have a specialised range for monitoring specific activities, such as Pedometer, which encourages walking - the idea is to persuade users of the need for 30 minutes of physical activities per day. The app allows the distance walked to be tracked and helps users to achieve goals (Pedometr..., 2017). Another type of solution is an app that functions as a personal trainer, as in the case of the Daily Yoga app. It gives you the opportunity to download sets of exercises adapted to different levels of difficulty (including over 400 asanas and video materials), music tracks that make the time spent on exercise easier, and access to a social network that allows users to share their achievements with others (Daily Yoga: Świetnie zaprojektowany ..., 2017).

Activation in public spaces and green areas is also associated with the use of information and communication technologies in interactive urban games. They are processed in real time and real places (based on location using GPS - Location Based Service mobile games) with superimposed virtual objects using augmented reality. The most popular game is Pokémon Go, encouraging users to cross streets, city squares and parks in search of mysterious portals in order to catch fictional characters. And although this game evoked controversy related to the security, privacy and even ethical and moral implications of technology in reality (Alomar, Alsaleh, Alarifi, 2018), it gained popularity in a very short time. There are many other interactive games acting on similar premises. One of them

is Ingress, which is used, among others, in tourism as it encourages users to visit new places, while also providing users information about the qualities of cultural heritage (Bajgier-Kowalska, Tracz, Uliszak, 2018). The increased physical activity of such games' users results directly from the requirements imposed by the games (Gabbiadini, Sagioglou, Greitemeyer, 2018) and results in more time being spent outdoors. Such games constitute one of the innovative strategies aimed at motivating people to engage in physical activity and go outside (Kamboj, Krishna 2016; LeBlanc, Chaput, 2016).

4. Conclusions

Information and communication technologies have a positive impact on improving users' health and promoting healthy habits through their variety of forms and the range of ways they are applied in public spaces and green areas.

In general terms, the presence of ICTs is now a desirable way to shape modern, diverse, and thus attractive places for various group of users – in accordance with the role that well-designed, high-quality public spaces should fulfil. The multi-directional potential of ICT applications and their practical use is aimed at increasing the standard of urban spaces, creating their positive reception by users. Information and communication technologies can simultaneously be used as a positively perceived tool for shaping the image of smart cities and for contributing to their promotion on many levels.

The ongoing cultural changes, including those caused by widely available access to the Internet, have a direct relevance in meeting the needs and expectations of contemporary information society users. The use of ICTs creates new opportunities to support and initiate various ways of spending time – not only indoors but also outdoors. This direction of application allows for the implementation of many activities in a variety of ways, allow public spaces, including green areas, to offer a wider range of services and functions. This applies both to outdoor activities that do not require significant physical involvement (passive recreation e.g. sitting on a bench, walking) and to the development of many physical activities (such as games, sports and oth-

ers). Therefore, the application of ICTs can be used to acquire new users of public spaces, increasing the number of people who, if provided with access to the Internet, spend more time outdoors, as they usually refrain from going out so as to avoid disconnecting from the Internet. Another positive phenomenon is the influence these technologies have on extending the time that users stay outside, and an additional advantage of ensuring constant access to media without the need to resign from performing other activities.

The use of ICT in public spaces and green areas can be used to invite users to leave confined spaces and move certain activities outside – this applies above all to leisure, but also to work. Spending time in public spaces with access to the Internet, can have an impact on the interpersonal and personal development of people. Such targeted application of information and communication technologies will therefore promote a healthy lifestyle for a growing number of city residents in the future.

Acknowledgements

The paper partly presents research results gained by dr Kinga Kimic and dr Gabriela Maksymiuk in a COST project TU1306 "Fostering knowledge about the relationship between Information and Communication Technologies and Public Spaces supported by strategies to improve their use and attractiveness" (www.cyberparks-project.eu).

References

Alomar, N. Alsaleh, M. Alarifi, A. (2019). Behavioral consequences of Pokémon GO: The exaggerated picture. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 90, 223-245. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.08.040

Bajgier-Kowalska M. Tracz M. Uliszak, R. (2018).

Obiekty zabytkowe w przestrzeni wirtualnej gry Ingress - studium małych miast Krakowskiego Obszaru Metropolitalnego (Historical sites in the virtual world of the Ingress game – case study of small towns in the Krakow Metropolitan Area – in Polish). *Prace*

- Geograficzne, 152, 11-31. DOI: https://doi.org/10.446 7/20833113PG.17.028.8251
- **Bielecki, K.** (2008). Miasto to gra (The city is a game in Polish). Warszawa: Wydawnictwo Akademickie Inkubatory Przedsiębiorczości.
- **BlocParc** (2017). Available at: http://www.blocparc.fr/ (12.04.2017).
- Bochińska, B. (2007). Bądź smart city (Be smart city in Polish). In: Goźlińska, K. editor, Biblioteka wizerunku miasta, cz. 3: Meble miejskie (City image library, part 3: Urban furniture in Polish), Warszawa: Wyd. AMS SA, 29-31.
- **Borden, I.** (2007). Tactics for a Playful City. In: von Borries, F., Walz, S. P. and Boettger, M. editors, Space time play: computer games, architecture and urbanism: the next level, Boston, MA: Birkhauser Verlag AG, 332-334.
- Daily Yoga: Świetnie zaprojektowany mobilny kurs jogi (Daily Yoga: A greatly designed mobile yoga course in Polish) (2017). Available at: http://antyapps.pl/daily-yoga-swietnie-zaprojektowany-mobilny-kurs-jogi-androidios/ (23.01.2017).
- **Dahlgren, G. Whitehead, M.** (1991). Policies and strategies to promote social equity in health. Background document to WHO Strategy paper for Europe, Institute for Futures Studies. Available at: https://ideas.repec.org/p/hhs/ifswps/2007_014.html (14.01.2019)
- de Lange, M. (2015). The Playful City: Using Play and Games to Foster Citizen Participation. In: Skaržauskienė, A. and Romeris, M., editors, Social Technologies and Collective Intelligence, Vilnius: Vilnius University, 426-434.
- **Dobbs, R. Manyika, J. Woetzel, J.** (2015). No Ordinary Disruption. The four global forces breaking all the trends. McKinsey Report. NY: McKinsey and Company.
- Endomondo. Google Play (2017). Available at: https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.endomondo.android&hl=pl (22.01.2017).
- Forlano, L. (2008). Anytime? Anywhere?: Reframing Debates Around Municipal Wireless Networking. *The Journal of Community Informatics*, 4(1). Available at: http://www.ci-journal.net/index.php/ciej/article/view/438/401 (24.06.2016).
- Gabbiadini, A. Sagioglou, Ch. Greitemeyer, T. (2018). Original dataset used in the article "Does Pokémon Goleadtoamorephysicallyactive life style?". *Data in Brief*, 20, 732–734. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2018.08.115

- **Graham, H. White, P.C.L.** (2016). Social determinants and lifestyles: integrating environmental and public health perspectives. *Public Health*, 14, 270-278. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2016.09.019
- Hello Lamp Post (2013). Available at: https://www.play-ablecity.com/projects/hello-lamp-post/ (18.02.2017).
- JCDecaux's Inteligent Street Furniture (2016). Available at: http://www.jcdecaux.com/en/Innovation-Design/JCDecaux-s-Intelligent-Street-Furniture (12.04.2017).
- Kamboj, A.K. Kriszna, S.G. (2016). Pokémon GO: An innovative smartphone gaming application with health benefits. *Promary Care Diabetes*, 11(4), 397–399. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcd.2017.03.008
- **Kimic, K.** (2015a). Meble miejskie i ich rola w kształtowaniu przestrzeni (Street furniture and its role in shaping the space in Polish). *Zieleń miejska plus*, 1, 4-6.
- Kimic, K. (2015b). Wielofunkcyjne meble miejskie innowacyjne rozwiązania służące integracji ich walorów użytkowych i artystycznych (Multifunctional city's furniture innovative applications for integration of their utilitarian and art values in Polish). In: Flizikowski, J. editor, Integracja Sztuki i Techniki w Architekturze i Urbanistyce, tom 3 (Integration of Art. and Technics in Architecture and Urban Planning, part 3 in Polish), Bydgoszcz: Wydawnictwo Uczelniane Uniwersytetu Technologiczno-Przyrodniczy w Bydgoszczy, 169-179.
- Kimic, K. (2017). Wspomaganie projektowania uniwersalnego przestrzeni publicznych przez zastosowanie technologii informacyjno-komunikacyjnych (ICT) w meblach miejskich (Universal design of public spaces aided by Information and Communication Technologies (ICT) application to urban furniture in Polish). Studia Komitetu Przestrzennego Zagospodarowania Kraju PAN, CLXXVI, 175-196. DOI: https://doi.org/10.24425/118573
- Kimic, K., Suchocka, M., Maksymiuk, G. Kołodyńska, N. (2016). Preferencje i oczekiwania użytkowników Internetu jako podstawa kształtowania hotspotów w przestrzeniach publicznych miast (Preferences and Expectations of Internet users as a Basis for Development of Hotspots in Urban Public Spaces in Polish). In: Gałuszko, D., Ptaszek, G. and Żuchowska-Skiba, D. editors, Technologiczno-społeczne oblicza XXI wieku (Technological and social aspects of the 21st century in Polish), Kraków: Wydawnictwo LI-BRON, 159-182.
- **Krzysztofek, K. Szczepański, M.** (2005). Zrozumieć rozwój. Od społeczeństw tradycyjnych do informacyj-

- nych. Podręcznik socjologii rozwoju społecznego dla studentów socjologii, nauk politycznych i ekonomii (Understanding development. From traditional to informative societies. Handbook of sociology of social development for students of sociology, political sciences and economics in Polish). Katowice: Wydawnictwo UŚ.
- **LeBlanc, A.G. Chaput, J.P.** (2017). Pokémon Go: A game changer for the physical inactivity crisis? *Preventive Medicine*, 101, 235-237. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.11.012
- **Louv, R.** (2008). Last Child in the Woods: Saving Our Children From Nature-Deficit Disorder. New York: Algonquin Books.
- Lubacz, J. Galar, R. (1999). Infrastruktura informacyjna i okolice (Information infrastructure and surroundings in Polish). In: Lubacz, J. editor, W drodze do społeczeństwa informacyjnego (On the way to the information society in Polish), Warszawa: Oficyna Wydawnicza Politechniki Warszawskiej, 55-78.
- **Lubański, M.** (2004). Społeczeństwo informacyjne a cywilizacja informatyczna (Information society vs information civilisation in Polish). In: Szewczyk, A. editor, Dylematy cywilizacji informatycznej (Dilemmas of information civilisation in Polish), Warszawa: Polskie Wydawnictwo Ekonomiczne, 15-21.
- Mysior, R. (2014). Dwa światy cyfrowi tubylcy, cyfrowi imigranci cz. I (Two worlds digital natives, digital immigrants part I in Polish). Available at: http://www.remedium-psychologia.pl/2014_09_3.pdf (12.03.2017).
- Naisbitt, J. (1982). Megatrends. Ten New Directions Transforming Our Lives. New York: Warner Books.
- Nowak, A. (2012). Najlepsze aplikacje do śledzenia aktywności sportowej. Zmotywują do ćwiczeń (The best applications for tracking sport activity. Motivate to exercise in Polish). Available at: http://di.com. pl/najlepsze-aplikacje-do-sledzenia-aktywnosci-sportowej-zmotywuja-do-cwiczen-46491 (22.01.2017).
- Pańczyk, W. (2012). Wychowanie fizyczne a zdrowie. Aktywność fizyczna w plenerze wobec zdrowotnych potrzeb człowieka cywilizacji konsumpcyjnej (Physical education and health. Physical outdoors activity to human health needs of the consumer civilization in Polish), Rzeszów: Wydawnictwo Uniwersytetu Rzeszowskiego.
- Pedometr. Google Play (2017). Available at: https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.tayu.tau.pedometer&hl=pl (22.01.2017).

- **Prensky, M.** (2001). Digital Natives, Digital Immigrants. *On the Horizon*, 9(5), 1-6. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1108/10748120110424816
- Przybylski, A. K. Murayama, K. DeHaan, C. R. Gladwell, V. (2013). Motivational, emotional, and behavioral correlates of fear of missing out. Computers in Human Behavior, 29(4), 1841–1848. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2013.02.014
- Raessens, J. (2006). Playful Identities, or the Ludification of Culture. *Games and Culture*, 1(1), 52-57. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1177/1555412005281779
- Responsive Street Furniture (2017). Ross Atkin Associates. Available at: http://www.rossatkin.com/wp/?portfolio=responsive-street-furniture (11.03.2017).
- Runtastic Running Bieganie i Fitness (Runtastic Running Running and Fitness in Polish) (2017). Available at: https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.runtastic.android&hl=pl (22.01.2017).
- **Shadowing** (2014). Available at: https://www.playablecity.com/projects/shadowing/ (18.02.2017).
- Suchocka, M. Kimic, K. Maksymiuk, G. Kołodyńska, N. (2017). Outdoor hotspots as a tool for enhancing healthy lifestyles of ICT users. Design and development principles. In: Zammit, A. and Kenna, Th. editors, Enhancing places through technology, Proceedings from the ICiTy conference Valletta, Malta April 18-19, 2016. Series: Culture&Territory, Cyber-Parks Project, Edições Universitárias Lusófonas, Lisbon, 153-165.
- Suchocka, M. Maksymiuk, G. Kimic, K. Kołodyńska, N. (2017). Behaviour, expectations and preferences of 'digital natives' in regard to the design of urban public spaces. In: Zammit, A. and Kenna, Th. editors, Enhancing places through technology, Proceedings from the ICiTy conference Valletta, Malta April 18-19, 2016. Series: Culture&Territory, CyberParks Project, Edições Universitárias Lusófonas, Lisbon, 117-128.
- **Tinnilä, M.** (2012). Impact of Future Trends on Banking Services. *Journal of Internet Banking & Commerce*, 17(2), Special section, 1-15.
- TRANSIT walking waypoints for urban environments (2015). Available at: http://www.coroflot.com/moechsle/tranSIT (15.04.2017).
- What is a Playable City? (2016). Available at: http://www.watershed.co.uk/playablecity/overview (18.02.2017).
- World Internet Project 2013 pod znakiem mobilności i mediów społecznościowych (World Internet Project 2013 marked by mobility and social media – in Polish) (2013). Available at: http://bi-

uroprasowe.orange.pl/biuroprasowe/pr/2492/ world-internet-project-2013-pod-znakiem-mobilnosci-i-mediow-spolecznosciowych/ (14.06.2017).



The proofreading of articles, positively reviewed and approved for publishing in the 'Bulletin of Geography. Socio-economic Series', was financed from the funds of the Ministry of Science and Higher Education earmarked for activities popularizing science, in line with Agreement No 509/P-DUN/2018.

